
 

 
 

Arun District Council 
Civic Centre 
Maltravers Road 
Littlehampton 
West Sussex 
BN17 5LF 
 

 
 
This meeting will be live streamed – 
please use this link which will take you to 
the Full Council web page to view the 
meeting: Arun District Council 

 Tel: (01903 737500) 
Fax: (01903) 730442 
DX: 57406 Littlehampton 
Minicom: 01903 732765 
 
e-mail: committees@arun.gov.uk 
 

 
21 February 2023 

 
SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 

 
To all Members of the Council 
 
You are summoned to attend a Special Meeting of the ARUN DISTRICT COUNCIL to be 
held on Wednesday 1 March 2023 at 6.00 pm in the Council Chamber, at the Arun Civic 
Centre, Maltravers Road, Littlehampton, BN17 5LF to transact the business set out 
below: 
 

 
 

James Hassett 
Chief Executive 

 
PLEASE NOTE: Where public meetings are being held at the Arun Civic Centre, to best 
manage safe space available, members of the public are encouraged to watch the meeting 
online via the Council’s Committee pages.  
 

1. Where a member of the public wishes to attend the meeting or has registered a 
request to take part in Public Question Time, they will be invited to submit the 
question in advance of the meeting to be read out by an Officer, but of course 
can attend the meeting in person. 

2. We request members of the public do not attend any face to face meeting if they 
have Covid-19 symptoms.  

Any members of the public wishing to address the Committee meeting during Public 
Question Time, will need to email Committees@arun.gov.uk by 5.15 pm on Tuesday, 21 
February 2023 in line with current Council Meeting Procedure Rues.  
 
It will be at the Chief Executive’s/Chair’s discretion if any questions received after this 
deadline are considered.  
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.arun.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=1626&Ver=4


 
 

For further information on the items to be discussed, please contact 
Committees@arun.gov.uk 
 
 

AGENDA 
  
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 Members and Officers are invited to make any declarations of pecuniary, 

personal and/or prejudicial interests that they may have in relation to items on this 
agenda, and are reminded that they should re-declare their interest before 
consideration of the item or as soon as the interest becomes apparent. 
 
Members and Officers should make their declaration by stating: 
 

a)  the item they have the interest in 
b)  whether it is a pecuniary, personal and/or prejudicial interest 
c)  the nature of the interest 
d) if it is a pecuniary or prejudicial interest, whether they will be exercising 
their right to speak under Question Time 

  
3. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 To receive questions from the public (for a period of up to 15 minutes) 

  
4. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS WITH PECUNIARY/PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS  
 To receive questions from Members with pecuniary/prejudicial interests (for a 

period of up to 15 minutes) 
  

5. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 26) 
 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on 

18 January 2023, which are attached. 
  

6. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 To receive such announcements as the Chairman may desire to lay before the 

Council. 
  

7. URGENT MATTERS  
 To deal with business not otherwise specified in the Council summons which, in 

the opinion of the Chairman of the Council (in consultation with the Chief 
Executive), is business of such urgency as to require immediate attention by the 
Council. 
 
 
 
  

mailto:Committees@arun.gov.uk


 
 

8. ARUN DISTRICT COUNCIL BUDGET 2023-2024 (Pages 27 - 40) 
 The Council is asked to consider the Revenue and Capital Budgets for the 

2023/24 financial year for both the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account. 
  
A report from the Interim Group Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer is 
attached and considers the recommendations made by the Policy and Finance 
Committee following its meeting held on 9 February 2023 in respect of the 
Council’s Budget for 2023/24.  The minutes from this meeting will be circulated 
separately to this agenda. 

  
The associated statutory resolutions have been received from West Sussex 
County Council and the Sussex Police and Crime Commissioner in terms of  
precepts. 

  
There are additional requirements associated with the approval of the Council’s 
tax base and NNDR1 for 2023/24 and special expenses. 
  
Restrictions on voting under Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 

  
Members are reminded that Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 applies to this meeting. In particular it should be noted that where a Member 
has at least two months arrears of Council Tax, he or she must declare this to the 
meeting and must not vote on budget recommendations, as to do otherwise can 
be a criminal offence. 
  
This item will be presented using the order below in line with Council Procedure 
Rule 4.3 [Procedure for Debate at Special Meetings]: 
  

(i)             Welcome by the Chair 
(ii)            Presentation by the Leader of the Council to deliver his Budget 

Statement – Councillor Gunner will make his Budget Statement and 
will propose the recommendations, including the associated 
statutory resolutions required in agreeing the Budget.  

(iii)          To be moved by – Councillor Gunner 
(iv)          Councillor Pendleton to second (may reserve her right to speak) 
(v)           Questions to be responded to by invited speaker(s) and/or Officers 

from: 
(a)  Members and 
(b)  Any other persons permitted by the Chair 

(vi)          Statements may then be made by: 
(vii)         Councillor Walsh to respond on behalf of the Liberal Democrat 

Group 
(viii)       Councillor Dixon to respond on behalf of the Independent Group 
(ix)          Councillor Goodheart to respond on behalf of the Arun Independent 

Group 
(x)           Councillor Thurston to respond on behalf of the Green Group 
(xi)          Any other person permitted by the Chair 
(xii)         Open debate 
(xiii)       Councillor Pendleton to respond as seconder 
(xiv)       Councillor Gunner to respond as proposer 



 
 

(xv)        Recorded Vote required [in line with Council Procedure Rule 20.6] 
(xvi)       Chair to conclude the debate  

  
9. MOTIONS  
 To consider any Motions submitted in accordance with Council Procedure 15. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
Note :  If Members have any detailed questions, they are reminded that they need to 

inform the  Chair and relevant Director in advance of the meeting. 
 
Note : Filming, Photography and Recording at Council Meetings – The District Council 

supports the principles of openness and transparency in its decision making and 
permits filming, recording and the taking of photographs at its meetings that are 
open to the public. This meeting may therefore be recorded, filmed or broadcast 
by video or audio, by third parties. Arrangements for these activities should 
operate in accordance with guidelines agreed by the Council and as available via 
the following link PART 8 - CP - Section 5 Filming Photographic Protocol.pdf 
(arun.gov.uk). 

 
 

https://democracy.arun.gov.uk/documents/s8256/PART%208%20-%20CP%20-%20Section%205%20Filming%20Photographic%20Protocol.pdf
https://democracy.arun.gov.uk/documents/s8256/PART%208%20-%20CP%20-%20Section%205%20Filming%20Photographic%20Protocol.pdf


Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

371 
 

 
 

MINUTES  
OF A 

MEETING OF THE ARUN DISTRICT COUNCIL 
HELD IN THE ARUN CIVIC CENTRE 
On 18 JANUARY 2023 AT 6.00 PM 

 
Present: Councillors Staniforth (Chair), Mrs Cooper (Vice-Chair), Batley, 

Bennett, Bicknell, Blanchard-Cooper, Bower, Brooks, Buckland, 
Chapman, Chace, Cooper, Coster, Daniells, Dendle, Dixon, 
Edwards, Elkins, Mrs English, English, Goodheart, Gunner, 
Haywood, Hughes, Jones, Kelly, Lury, McAuliffe, Needs, Northeast, 
Oliver-Redgate, Oppler, Pendleton, Rhodes, Roberts, Smith, 
Stainton, Tilbrook, Thurston, Wallsgrove, Walsh, Worne and 
Yeates. 

  
 The following Members were absent from the meeting during 

consideration of the matters referred to in the Minutes indicated:- 
Councillor Jones - Minute 564 to Minute 568 (Part), Councillor 
Needs - Minute 564 to 570 (Part) and Councillors Batley and 
Dendle - Minute Clayden, Councillor Gregory, Councillor Hamilton, 
Councillor Huntley, Councillor Madeley, Councillor Purchese, 
Councillor Seex, Councillor Stanley and Councillor Warr 

 
 
 
564. WELCOME  
 
 The Chair welcomed Councillors, representatives of the public, press and 
officers to the meeting.  
 
 A special welcome was extended to Councillor Stephen McAuliffe who had been 
elected as Councillor for the Arundel and Walberton Ward following the By-Election 
held on 1 December 2022. 
 
565. FORMER MEMBERS OF STAFF PAT LAWSON AND MARCIA FELLOWS  
 
 The Chair stated that sadly she had to commence the new year by announcing 
the deaths of two former members of staff. 
 
 The first was Pat Lawson who had worked as a Payroll Assistant and had joined 
the Council on 1 May 1985 and completed 13 years’ service.  Pat had passed away on 
20 December 2022 and the Council’s condolences were extended to Pat’s family, 
friends and colleagues. 
 
 Secondly, the Council had been informed on 16 January 2023 that Marcia 
Fellows who had been the Resources Deputy Director had passed away on 15 January 
2023 following a long period of illness.  The Council’s condolences were extended to 
Marcia’s family, friends and colleagues. 
 
 The Council then undertook a minute’s silence to respect both of their passings. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

372 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 
 
 
566. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
 Apologies for Absence had been received from Councillors Caffyn, Clayden, 
Gregory, Hamilton, Huntley, Madeley, Purchese, Seex, Stanley and Warr and from 
Honorary Aldermen, Mrs Stinchcombe and Mr Dingemans.  
 
567. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
The Declaration of Interest Sheet set out below confirms those Members who had 
made a declaration of their personal interest as a Member of a Town or Parish 
Councillor or a West Sussex County Councillor, as confirmed in their Register of 
Interest as these declarations could apply to any of the issues to be discussed at the 
meeting.   
  

          Name Town or Parish Council or West 
Sussex County Council [WSCC] 

Councillor Tracy Baker Littlehampton 
Councillor Kenton Batley Bognor Regis 
Councillor Jamie Bennett Rustington 
Councillor Paul Bicknell Angmering 
Councillor Billy Blanchard-Cooper Littlehampton 
Councillor Jim Brooks Bognor Regis 
Councillor Ian Buckland Littlehampton and WSCC 
Councillor David Chace Littlehampton 
Councillor Mike Clayden Rustington 
Councillor Andy Cooper Rustington 
Councillor Alison Cooper Rustington and WSCC 
Councillor Sandra Daniells Bognor Regis 
Councillor Roger Elkins Ferring and WSCC 
Councillor Paul English Felpham 
Councillor Steve Goodheart Bognor Regis 
Councillor Pauline Gregory Rustington 
Councillor June Hamilton Pagham 
Councillor Shirley Haywood Middleton-on-Sea 
Councillor David Huntley Pagham 
Councillor Henry Jones Bognor Regis 
Councillor Martin Lury Bersted 
Councillor Stephen McAuliffe Walberton 
Councillor Claire Needs Bognor Regis 
Councillor Mike Northeast Littlehampton 
Councillor Francis Oppler WSCC 
Councillor Jacky Pendleton Middleton-on-Sea and WSCC 
Councillor Vicky Rhodes Littlehampton 

Page 2



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

373 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

Councillor Emily Seex Littlehampton 
Councillor Martin Smith Aldwick 
Councillor Samantha Staniforth Bognor Regis 
Councillor Matt Stanley Bognor Regis 
Councillor Will Tilbrook Littlehampton  
Councillor Isabel Thurston Barnham & Eastergate 
Councillor James Walsh Littlehampton and WSCC 
Councillor Sue Wallsgrove Barnham 
Councillor Jeanette Warr Bognor Regis 
Councillor Amanda Worne Yapton 
Councillor Gillian Yeates Bersted 

  
          There were no Declarations of Interest made. 
  
568. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
  
          The Chair confirmed that seven public questions had been submitted for the 
meeting. The questions have been very briefly summarised below: 
  

(1)  From Mr Cosgrove to the Chair of the Corporate Support Committee, 
Councillor Dendle regarding the Boundary Commission examining 
constituency boundaries. The Chair confirmed that this question was being 
automatically referred to the next meeting of the Corporate Support 
Committee on 19 January 2023. 

(2)  From Mr Cosgrove to the Chair of the Economy Committee, Councillor 
Cooper regarding the establishment of a Working Party to consider 
presentations on the regeneration of Bognor Regis.  The Chair confirmed that 
this question was being automatically referred to the next meeting of the 
Economy Committee on 2 February 2023. 

(3)  From Mr Cosgrove to the Chair of the Constitution Working Party, Councillor 
Bower regarding the procedure in place for Public Question Time at 
meetings. 

(4)  From Mr Cosgrove to the Chair of the Policy & Finance Committee, 
Councillor Gunner regarding a private briefing that had been held for 
Members of this Committee on the Bognor Regis Levelling-Up scheme. The 
Chair confirmed that this question was being automatically referred to the 
Policy & Finance Committee on 9 February 2023. 

(5)  From Mrs Smith to the Chair of the Planning Committee, Councillor Chapman 
regarding the legal status of access to the site known as ‘Land West of 
Fontwell Avenue (AL/121/16/PL).  Councillor Chapman confirmed that he 
would provide a written response to this question and questions 6 and 7 
below. 

(6)  From Mrs Smith to the Chair of the Planning Committee, Councillor Chapman 
regarding his response made to a previous question asked at Full Council in 
July 2022. 

(7)  From Mrs Smith to the Chair of the Planning Committee, Councillor Chapman 
regarding site AL/121/16/PL. 

Page 3



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

374 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 
  

The Chair then drew Public Question to a close. 
  

(A schedule of the full questions asked, and the responses provided can be 
found on the Public Question Web page at: Arun District Council ) 
  
569. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS WITH PECUNIARY/PREJUDICIAL 

INTERESTS  
 
          No questions were asked. 
 
570. PETITIONS  
 
          The Chair confirmed that as announced at the last meeting of Full Council on 9 
November 2022, a petition had been received containing over 1,500 signatures asking 
the Council to protect services provided to the public at the Bognor Regis Town Hall. 
  
          The wording of the petition had been set out in a report provided by the Interim 
Group Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer [as set out in the agenda pack at pages 
1 to 4] confirming that: 
  
          The Council is asked to “immediately restore frontline face to face services for the 
public to Bognor Regis Town Hall and maintain those services there for the foreseeable 
future.  We are concerned that those in the town and surrounding villages who are on 
limited income, have limited mobility, are not on the internet and are not able to be 
diverted to appointments elsewhere or at another time, will lose the convenient access 
to Council services that the Town Hall has provided since 1930.  We call on Arun 
District Councillors to recognise their responsibility to provide convenient and easy 
LOCAL access to all Council services for all members of the public in Bognor Regis and 
surrounding villages, particularly the elderly and those of limited income and mobility”. 
  
          In line with the Council’s Petition Scheme, set out in the Council’s Constitution at 
Part 8 – Codes and Protocols, Section 4 – Petitions Scheme – Paragraph 5.0 – Full 
Council debates, the Chair firstly invited the Petition Organiser, Mrs Mandee Keeling, to 
present the petition. 
  
          Mrs Keeling then presented the petition.  She confirmed that the Town Hall was 
the heart of Bognor Regis and was treasured by the public. It was explained that the 
petition had started after Mrs Keeling had come into contact with many people who had 
spoken about how hard it had become for them to talk to their Council face to face. She 
stated that these people were elderly, disabled and often had no means of transport 
and so could not easily get to the Civic Centre in Littlehampton or had little or no access 
to online services. Also, those that had tried to make contact with the Council, through 
various means, had complained that their experiences had not been positive, and their 
queries had not been answered swiftly. Mrs Keeling outlined that the petition had 
stretched from Rose Green to Middleton-on-Sea as well as including many shops and 
business in-between. In organising the petition, Mrs Keeling confirmed that she had 

Page 4

https://democracy.arun.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=141


Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

375 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

spoken to many people about the plight of services and most residents had agreed that 
the Council was hard to reach. They had also wished to convey that they loved their 
Town Hall and wanted to see it working for their community.  Mrs Keeling stated that 
the Council had gently reduced services to the people of Bognor Regis and surrounding 
areas and had done this with their usual manner of distain towards the people in the 
town, calling people ‘moaners’ if they wished to complain and calling the petition 
misleading and time wasting, this was not the case. Arun District Council had done this 
without consulting with elected Councillors. The concern of the public was that the 
Town Hall and its services to the public would continue to decrease and there was 
genuine fear that the Town Hall, at some point in the future, would be closed. Mrs 
Keeling pleaded with the Council to save the Town Hall and its services by asking the 
Council to maintain face to face Council services at the Bognor Regis Town Hall for the 
foreseeable future and to look after this splendid example of Bognor Regis’ heritage.  
Mrs Keeling asked Councillors to support the strong message being delivered by the 
petition. 
  
          Having thanked Mrs Keeling for her presentation, the Chair then invited the Chair 
of the Corporate Support Committee, Councillor Dendle, to make a response to the 
petition.  He thanked Mrs Keeling for the petition and for the obvious hard work that had 
been dedicated to it and also for her interaction with those that had signed it.  Councillor 
Dendle referred Members to the report provided by the Interim Group Head of Finance 
and Section 151 Officer which confirmed that the petition had been built on a false 
premise because face to face access was still available at the Town Hall. He stated that 
over the years there had been a change with more people contacting the council 
virtually or by other means but that this did not mean that a face to face service was not 
available or that this service would not continue to be provided for the foreseeable 
future.  The Council continued to look at how services could be provided in different 
ways to benefit the public. The Officer report confirmed when the Town Hall was open 
for business and when telephone or face to face contact could be made.  
  
          Councillor Dendle then reminded Members of the recommendation set out in the 
Officer’s accompanying report. Councillor Dendle then formally proposed this 
recommendation which was “Members are asked to consider the report and to confirm 
how the Council should respond to the petition based upon the facts presented”.  
Councillor Dendle confirmed that Councillor Roberts would be seconding this 
recommendation.   
  
          The Chair then invited debate from Councillors, the first to speak was Councillor 
Dixon.  He too thanked Mrs Keeling for the petition and confirmed that he wished the 
response of the council to be that a statement be issued to reassure residents that the 
council would continue to provide face to face services at the Bognor Regis Town Hall 
for the foreseeable future and that a list of all services that could be accessed face to 
face be provided. This would go some way to correct any mis-messages about services 
not being provided in the future and would reassure the public that the Council’s 
intentions were good.  
 
 
           

Page 5



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

376 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 
          Councillors responded confirming that they would be happy to support this 
proposal as they felt that post Covid-19, services to the public at the Town Hall had 
changed in that the public could no longer just drop into the Town Hall to discuss a 
problem with a member of staff, an appointment now had to be made to do this. It was 
outlined that the petition had made it clear that the public wanted to be able to call into 
the Town Hall at a moment of need and see a member of staff at that point. There were 
some Councillors who felt that that the Town Hall was being underutilised and so there 
was a general sense of fear that this would result, in the longer-term, in it being sold.   
   
          Further debate saw mixed views being expressed.  Although some Councillors 
accepted that there were staff in place at the Town Hall to assist with the booking of 
appointments, they also felt that current provision was inadequate, and that proper 
public access was required. Concerns were also expressed over the lack of privacy for 
those visiting the Town Hall to book appointments with staff and that confidential space 
should be made available. Another observation made was that with increasing housing 
numbers, there would be more need to expand customer services at the Town Hall and 
that more thought should be given to making it a more effective one stop shop. 
  
          Councillor Gunner, as Leader of the Council, confirmed and reassured that no 
discussions had taken place with Officers to consider either reducing services at the 
Town Hall or selling the Town Hall. In responding to the comments made about the 
Town Hall operating reduced customer services, Members were reminded of the varied 
and excellent support services provided to residents and that ‘in person’ appointments 
were available along with opportunities to gain the assistance of staff using the 
telephone, or face to face appointments by virtual means.  Examples of the types of 
service provided to the public were highlighted proving that there was no attempt to 
reduce the care and support provided to residents.  
  
          Other Councillors confirmed that they supported Councillor Dixon’s proposal as 
this provided a solid response to the petition.  Councillors thanked Mrs Keeling for her 
work and thanked everyone who had signed the petition for engaging with the Council 
and for confirming how they felt.  
  
          Following further debate, Councillor Dendle referred to the recommendation that 
had been set out within the Officer’s report which he had proposed and he confirmed 
that he would happily accept Councillor Dixon’s proposal as an amendment.  This was 
also accepted by Councillor Roberts who then seconded the recommendation in that 
report.  
  
          Councillor Dixon then formally proposed his amendment which read “That a 
statement is issued to reassure residents that the Council will continue to provide face 
to face services at the Bognor Regis Town Hall for the foreseeable future along with a 
list of all of the services that can be accessed face to face”. 
  
          This amendment was then seconded by Councillor Coster.   
  

On this amendment being put to the vote it was declared CARRIED.     

Page 6



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

377 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

          The Council 
  
                     RESOLVED 
  

That a statement is issued to reassure residents that the Council will 
continue to provide face to face services at the Bognor Regis Town Hall 
for the foreseeable future along with a list of all of the services that can be 
accessed face to face. 

 
571. MINUTES  
 

The Minutes of the Council Meeting held on 9 November 2022 were approved by 
the Council as a correct record and would be signed by the Chair at the end of the 
meeting.   
  
572. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

Firstly, the Chair outlined that following the King’s New Year’s Honours List, on 
behalf of the Council she wished to offer congratulations to the Reverend David 
Twinley, from St Nicholas’ Church in Arundel, who had been awarded a BEM 
(Medallists of the Order of the British Empire) for his services to the community in 
Arundel and particularly during Covid-19.  
  

The Chair emphasised she was that the district had such an outstanding citizen 
within the Arun community, and she congratulated Reverend Twinley for receiving this 
very well-deserved honour. The Chair confirmed that she and the Chief Executive and 
each written to Reverend Twinley to personally congratulate on him on this 
achievement.  
                                         
          The Chair also provided an update about her charity confirming that teenage 
mental health was very important to her and so she wished to support organisations in 
this field. As she was very aware of the current cost of living crisis, she felt that it was 
important to stage a different type of event focusing more on supporting local young 
people rather than direct fund raising. The Chair highlighted that she had been liaising 
with the Arun Youth Project and local businesses so that some charity activity days 
could be organised for families who had teenagers that were struggling with mental 
health issues.  One outcome from these discussions was that the Beach Café in 
Littlehampton had confirmed that it would be happy to help support an activity day for 
young people up to the age of 18 providing activities such as water sports and the use 
of the skatepark as well as other wellbeing activities such as yoga.  The Chair 
confirmed that dates would be released soon and she asked Members to support these 
activities by way of a donation if this was possible. A just giving account would soon be 
set up on the Chair’s Councillor page providing these details.  
  
  
 

Page 7



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

378 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 
573. URGENT MATTERS  
 
          The Chair confirmed that there were two urgent items for this meeting to 
consider.  
           The first item was a report from the Group Head of Law & Governance  and 
Monitoring Officer reviewing changes in proportionality and to agree revised Committee 
allocations following the result of the Arundel and Walberton by-election on 1 December 
2022 and a change to the number of Councillors within the Liberal Democrat group. 
       
     The Chair confirmed that this report had been circulated to all Councillors on 17 
January 2023 and had been uploaded to the Full Council web page as a supplement.  
            

The Group Head of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer explained that 
there was an urgent need for the Council to agree revised Committee allocations 
reflecting the updated political proportionality following a change to the number of 
Councillors within the Liberal Democrat group. He confirmed that the proposals had 
been approved by Group Leaders in advance of this meeting. The result of this review 
was that Councillor Buckland would remain as a Member of the Corporate Support and 
Standards Committees.  
  
          Having had the recommendations in the report proposed by Councillor Bicknell 
and seconded by Councillor Bennett,  
  
          The Council 
  
                     RESOLVED – That 
  

(1)           The outcome of the review of committees of entitlement of political 
groups and non-aligned councillors to seats on committees, based upon 
proportionality rules, as set out in Appendix 1 of the report be noted; 

  
(2)           The allocation of seats to political groups be approved; and 

  
(3)           Subject to 2.2 above, to approve appointments to Committees for 
the remainder of the municipal year in Paragraph 4.11 of this report. 

  
          The Chair then turned to the second urgent item which was a report from the 
Director of Growth regarding the Bognor Regis Business Improvement District Proposal 
– Second Term.  As this report was seeking the Council’s authority to confirm how it 
would vote in the term 2 ballot, the Chair confirmed that it was proposed that this item 
be considered in Exempt Business at the end of the meeting. 

Page 8



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

379 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

  
574. REPORT FROM THE RETURNING OFFICER OF THE PERSON ELECTED AS 

DISTRICT COUNCILLOR FOR ARUN DISTRICT COUNCIL ON 1 DECEMBER 
2022  

 
          The Council received and noted a report from the Chief Executive, declaring that 
Councillor Stephen McAuliffe had been elected as a Member of Arun District Council’s 
Arundel and Walberton Ward following the By-Election held on 1 December 2022. 
  
575. CHANGE TO THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA  
 
 The Chair proposed a change to the order of the agenda suggesting that Agenda 
Item 13 [Policy & Finance Committee – 13 December 2022] and time critical 
recommendations from that Committee relating to the Budget be considered now in 
view of this meeting’s long agenda. 
 
 Having been formally proposed by the Chair and seconded by Councillor Mrs 
Cooper, on this proposal being put to the vote it was declared CARRIED. 
 
576. POLICY & FINANCE COMMITTEE - 13 DECEMBER 2022  
 
          The Chair of the Policy & Finance Committee, Councillor Gunner, presented 
recommendations from the meeting of the Policy & Finance Committee held on 13 
December 2022. 
  
          Councillor Gunner alerted Members to the first set of recommendations at Minute 
531 [Financial Prospects (Medium-Term Financial Prospects) 2022-23 to 2026-27 
which he formally proposed.  The recommendations were then seconded by Councillor 
Pendleton. 
  
          The Council 
  
                     RESOLVED  
  

(1)            To approve the medium-term budget plan for the period 2023/24 to 
2026/27;  
  
(2)           To agree the core assumptions set out in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy contained in Section 4 of the report;  

  
 
 

Page 9



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

380 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 

(3)           Note that there were uncertainties around Government Funding 
prior to the local government settlement in December 2022 and the delay 
in the Local Government Funding reforms such as business rates 
retention and the future of the New Homes Bonus; and  

  
(4)   Agree the maximising of income including fees and charges, where 
possible, as part of the 2023/24 budget process. 

  
          Councillor Gunner then turned to the final set of recommendations at Minute 534 
[Items Brought Forward from Service Committees – Housing & Wellbeing Committee – 
6 December 2022 – Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revised Budget – 2022-23 
which he formally proposed.  The recommendations were then seconded by Councillor 
Pendleton. 
  

The Council   
  

RESOLVED - That  
  
(1)           Having reviewed the changes to the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) budget, the revised HRA Budget set out in Appendix 1 to the report 
is approved; and  

  
(2) Any required changes to the financing of HRA capital expenditure 
including potential borrowing are agreed. 

  
577. AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE - 29 NOVEMBER 2022  
 
          In the absence of the Chair of the Audit & Governance Committee, Councillor 
Clayden, the Vice-Chair, Councillor Chapman, presented recommendations from the 
meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee held on 29 November 2022. 
  
          Councillor Chapman alerted Members to a series of recommendations at Minute 
467 [Treasury Management – Mid Year Report 2022/23 which he formally proposed.  
Councillor Chace then seconded the recommendations. 
  
          The Council 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

381 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

                     RESOLVED – That 
  

(1)            The actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2022/23 contained 
in the report be approved;  
  
(2)       The treasury management mid-year review (this report) for 2022/23 
be noted; and 

  
(3)            The treasury mid-year activity for the period ended 30 September 
2022, which has generated interest receipts of £500,000 (1.58%) year to 
date, against a budget of £370,000 (0.84%) for the full year, be noted. 

  
578. CONSTITUTION WORKING PARTY - 5 DECEMBER 2022  
 
          The Chair, Councillor Bower presented recommendations from the meeting of the 
Constitution Working Party held on 5 December 2022. 
  
          Councillor Bower alerted Councillors to a recommendation at Minute 6 [Updates 
to the Constitution] and to an email that had been sent to all Councillors by the 
Monitoring Officer earlier on in the day. This explained that the Appendix referred to in 
the recommendation was the appendix to the Working Party report and could be found 
on pages 57 to 204 of the agenda. The proposed amendments to the constitution had 
been shown in tracked changes with the only exception being where changes had been 
required to officer job titles, as a result of last year’s senior management restructure.  
Those job titles had been updated and not shown as tracked. This was because to 
show all of those changes would have resulted in an overwhelming set of papers being 
provided to Members making it harder for Members to then find the more substantial 
amendments.  Councillor Bower then formally proposed the recommendations which 
were then seconded by  Councillor Cooper. 
  
          The Council 
  
                     RESOLVED 
  

That the proposed amendments set out within the body of Appendix 1 be 
approved, to include the amendments made earlier in the meeting as set 
out within the minutes. 

  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

382 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 
579. SPECIAL PLANNING POLICY COMMITTEE - 7 DECEMBER 2022  
 
          The Chair of the Planning Policy Committee, Councillor Bower, presented 
recommendations from the Special Meeting of the Planning Policy Committee held on 7 
December 2022.  
           
          Councillor Bower alerted Councillors to a series of recommendations at Minute 
507 [A Response to the National Highways A27 Arundel, Further Consultation] 
explaining that National Highways had undertaken supplementary consultation 
regarding its proposals to improve the A27 by building a bypass around Arundel. The 
Special Meeting of the Planning Policy Committee had been informed of the content of 
the consultation, which had strictly related to matters relating to Walberton, and had 
been invited to respond to this consultation by the deadline date of 16 December 2022. 
In debating the consultation, the Committee felt that it was important for all Members of 
the Council to be able to respond to the consultation as this was a matter that affected 
the entire district.  The Committee’s response had therefore been recommended onto 
Full Council.  The decision of the Committee had been submitted to National Highways 
so as to meet its consultation’s deadline, but it had been submitted as an interim 
conclusion subject to debate and any decision made by this Full Council meeting.  
Councillor Bower then proposed the recommendations which were then seconded by 
Councillor Hughes.  
   
          In proposing the recommendations, Councillor Bower confirmed that he was 
concerned that the recommendations from the Committee had an air of conditionality 
about them and well as slight negativity.  As Councillor Bower did not wish this Council 
to fall into the same position as Chichester District Council, who had been slightly 
negative at what was being proposed for the A27 around Chichester, it had been 
interpreted that they did not wish to pursue the improvements around that area. 
Councillor Bower’s view was this it was vital for this Council to confirm its determination 
to pursue the proposals for the A27 and to ensure that the future economy of Arun 
would gain the benefit of the by-pass as this was what this Council had been fighting 
for, for decades. Incidents just this week where the A27 had been closed in two 
locations at the same time had highlighted the major issues with the surrounding road 
network south of the A27 and this had confirmed how the improvements were 
desperately needed. 
  
          Councillor Bower then confirmed that he wished to make amendments to some of 
the recommendations which he explained.  
  
 
 
 

Page 12



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

383 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

          The amendments proposed are set out below – with additions shown using bold 
any deletions shown using strikethrough: 
  

1.              The Council’s strongly supports for the grey route but is conditional 
remains concerned by the perceived on satisfactory mitigation to reduce 
rat running through Walberton and other local roads. The Council does 
not consider have confidence that the rat-running issue has been 
satisfactorily resolved and also asks that National Highways review the 
veracity of their conclusions in light of the traffic survey data 
commissioned by Walberton Parish Council;   
  

2.              The Council supports the provision of a bat crossing at Tye Lane;   

  
3.     The Council views the exercise value of a round of golf as an important part 

of its health and wellbeing package for the district and would like to see 
golf (option 1 or option 2) retained at this location (not par 3 pitch and putt 
which had minimal exercise value);   

4.     The Council supports the proposed changes to the Crossbush Junction;   

5.     For the avoidance of doubt the Council supports the offline solution to 
bridging the proposed road at Yapton Lane;   

6.       The magenta route remains this Council’s preferred solution with 
support for the grey route is conditional on the inclusion of a junction with 
Ford Road and the new A27 and . That we draw the attention of National 
Highways to the potential to reduce rat running by taking forward the Ford 
Road A27 junction as previously proposed.  

  
          Councillor Gunner then seconded these amendments.  
  
          The Chair then invited debate on these amendments. Some Councillors 
confirmed that they could not endorse these amendments as they saw them as a step 
back for the Council. The support for the grey route needed to be conditional in terms of 
the inclusion of a junction with Ford Road. This was seen as vital to this project working 
and being a success.  Instead, National Highways had proposed a route that was not 
supported and cost the most, the difference between the grey route and magenta route 
would have paid for the Ford Road junction based on the costings provided and from 
the independent review undertaken. The Council needed the A27 extended but how 
could the Council support a route which was completely against what the Council had 
confirmed earlier. 
 
  

Page 13



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

384 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 
           It was felt that the amendment to Recommendation (6) was completely 
unnecessary. There were other Councillors, especially Members of the Planning Policy 
Committee, who could not understand why further amendments were being proposed 
when the Committee had unanimously agreed its recommendations following thorough 
debate. It was felt that Councillor Bower’s amendments changed the spirit of the 
Committee’s recommendations.   
  
          Further reservations were expressed about the Chair of the Committee changing 
the recommendations presented.  It was pointed out that this consultation was not just 
about Walberton but was also about amendments to the Crossbush Junction and 
specifically about the Avisford Park Golf Course. To start reintroducing references to 
the Magenta route at this stage, when it had been off for the table for a long time,  was 
unhelpful, there was only one option which was the grey route with no other route 
alternatives. There were many Councillors who strongly objected to the removal of 
Recommendation (3), which had been a well thought out part of the consultation, and 
they asked to see the evidence to back up why it should be removed.   
  
          Further debate in support of the amendments took place and focused upon the 
economic repercussions for the district if an offline bypass was not delivered. The 
Government was willing to invest hundreds of millions into the area. In response the 
Council needed to support the amendments and emphasise the need for the bypass 
which would provide significant improvements for businesses and private travel locally 
as well as all other parts of the Southeast.  This was one of the most significant 
investment opportunities for the district and so the Council could not lose the 
opportunity of obtaining that investment. Many concerns raised by West Sussex County 
Council (WSCC) and had been highlighted by this Council but many of these would be 
addressed in the DCO application process undertaken by an independent inspector. It 
was important for all of these issues to be fully considered and for WSCC and Arun to 
be united in getting the best opportunity to highlight the rat running issues which 
needed to be addressed but would be by the inspector.  This infrastructure was needed 
to secure the district’s economic future and the Council could not run the risk of losing 
this investment by using the word conditional.  
  
          Councillors expressing a different view explained that the Council needed to 
express conditional support for the grey route and upon satisfactory mitigation to reduce 
rat running.  The Council needed to be robust in defending its residents and pushing 
forward with a robust response to include development proposals for golf courses as 
part of the district’s leisure package. The Council needed to be sure and not bullied into 
accepting that the rat running issues had been resolved. 
  
 
 

Page 14



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

385 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

          Councillor Gunner, as seconder to the amendments, reconfirmed the points 
made by those supporting the amendments and that this involved needing to think 
carefully about the use of conditional support.  
  
          A recorded vote had been requested for each of the amendments.   
  
          For the amendment to Recommendation 1, those voting for it were Councillors 
Bicknell, Bower, Chace, Chapman, Mrs Cooper, Cooper, Daniells, Dendle, Edwards, 
Elkins, Mrs English, English, Goodheart, Gunner, Hughes, Kelly, Oliver-Redgate, 
Pendleton, Rhodes and Staniforth (20).  Those voting against were Councillors Batley, 
Bennett, Blanchard-Cooper, Brooks, Buckland, Coster, Dixon, Haywood, Jones, Lury, 
McAuliffe, Needs, Northeast, Oppler, Roberts, Smith, Thurston, Tilbrook, Wallsgrove, 
Walsh, Worne and Yeates (22). Councillor Staniforth abstained from voting (1). 
  
          The amendment to Recommendation (1) was therefore declared as being NOT 
CARRIED. 
  
          For the amendment to Recommendation (3), those voting for it were Councillors 
Bicknell, Bower, Chace, Chapman, Mrs Cooper, Cooper, Daniells, Dendle, Edwards, 
Elkins, Mrs English, Goodheart, Gunner, Kelly, Northeast, Oliver-Redgate, Pendleton, 
Rhodes and Staniforth (19).  Those voting against were Councillors Batley, Bennett, 
Blanchard-Cooper, Brooks, Buckland, Coster, Dixon, Haywood, Jones, Lury, McAuliffe, 
Needs, Oppler, Smith, Thurston, Tilbrook, Wallsgrove, Walsh, Worne and Yeates (20). 
Councillors English, Hughes, Roberts and Stainton abstained from voting (4). 
  
          The amendment to Recommendation (3) was therefore declared as being NOT 
CARRIED. 
  
          For the amendment to Recommendation (6), those voting for it were Councillors 
Bicknell, Bower, Chapman, Mrs Cooper, Cooper, Dendle, Edwards, Elkins, Gunner, 
Kelly, Northeast, Oliver-Redgate, Pendleton, Rhodes and Staniforth (15). Those voting 
against were Councillors Batley, Bennett, Blanchard-Cooper, Buckland, Coster, Dixon, 
English, Jones, Lury, Needs, Oppler, Roberts, Smith, Thurston, Tilbrook, Wallsgrove, 
Walsh, Worne and Years (19).  Councillors Brooks, Chace, Daniells, Mrs English, 
Goodheart, Haywood, Hughes, McAuliffe and Stainton abstained from voting (9).  
  
          The amendment to Recommendation (6) was therefore declared as being NOT 
CARRIED. 
  

Page 15



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

386 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 
          The Chair then returned to the substantive recommendations. Councillor 
McAuliffe confirmed that he wished to make amendments to the substantive 
recommendations by adding more detail.  
  
          The Chair then called a short adjournment so that the detail of the amendments 
could be confirmed.  The meeting then resumed.  
  
          Councillor McAuliffe then proposed his amendments.   
  
          The amendments proposed are set out below – with additions shown using bold 
any deletions shown using strikethrough: 

  
1.   The Council’s support for the grey route is conditional on satisfactory 

mitigation to reduce rat running. The Council does not have confidence 
that the rat-running issue has been satisfactorily resolved. and also 
asks that National Highways review the veracity of their conclusions in 
light of the traffic survey data commissioned by Walberton Parish 
Council; The Council asks National Highways to review the veracity 
of existing traffic models in light of traffic survey data 
commissioned by Walberton Parish Council and National 
Highways’ own data that highlight the disparities between models 
and real-time data.  Solutions that avoid adverse traffic impacts for 
the entirety of Walberton and adjacent villages including currently 
un-modelled link roads around Fontwell, Barnham and Eastergate 
should be presented.  
  

2.  The Council supports the provision of a bat bridge design which is 
supported by scientific evidence and Natural England Green 
Bridge Guidance and is likely to achieve positive conservation 
outcomes for those species known to be present.  National 
Highways are requested to provide design updates that conform 
to these criteria crossing at Tye Lane; 

  
3.  The Council views the exercise value of a round of golf as an important 

part of its health and wellbeing package for the district and would like 
to see golf (option 1 or option 2) retained at this location (not par 3 
pitch and putt which had minimal exercise value) along with the 
important community facilities provided by the existing golf 
course that serve the wider population in addition to golf club 
members. 

  
4.  National Highways are requested to amend designs in order to 

avoid foreseeable congestion on the northbound A284 and to 
include measures that avoid southbound delays at the proposed 

Page 16



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

387 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

Causeway/A27 junction. It is also requested that plans for 
compulsory purchase of land to facilitate the new design, but 
expected to adversely affect local business interests, be 
reviewed. The Council supports the proposed changes to the 
Crossbush Junction; 

  
5.  For the avoidance of doubt the Council supports the offline solution to 

bridging the proposed road at Yapton Lane; 
  

6.  The Council’s support for the grey route is conditional on the inclusion 
of a junction with Ford Road and the new A27. That we draw the 
attention of National Highways to the potential to reduce rat running by 
taking forward the Ford Road A27 junction as previously proposed. 

  
Councillor McAuliffe having proposed his amendments then provided a summary 

explaining their need. Regarding the bat bridge, the amendment to (Recommendation 
(2), there was no scientific evidence that supported the efficacy of the bridge proposed. 
National Highways had put forward a bat bridge that was 5 metres wide. The Natural 
England recommendation concluded that no bridge less than 20 metres in width could 
be recommended. Furthermore, this bridge had only be used once in the country on a 
completely different scale of road, which was an unlit single carriage way road serving 
10,000 vehicles. This would not be suitable for the A27 and would not achieve effective 
mitigation. In addressing Recommendation (3), the golf course was a community hub 
and was not just for members it provided facilities for others to use in the local 
community. There were people who lived in Walberton with limited mobility and limited 
access to transport and relied on the facilities provided by the golf club, even if this was 
not the golf course itself. The facilities provided an important public function and needed 
to be maintained. Regarding Crossbush, it was necessary to raise the issue of 
compulsory purchase to facilitate the new design on that end of the route. This was not 
supported by the landowners and there were concerns that it would adversely impact 
business interests in the Crossbush/Lyminster area. Given that one of the main 
proposals was for the economic improvement in the Arun valley it would be a shame if 
at the first hurdle this was not supported by Council.  

  
Councillor Thurston then seconded these amendments.  
  

          The Chair then invited debate on these amendments which saw a range of 
Councillors speaking for and against them. Those speaking in support confirmed that 
the amendments added considerable clarity. It was highlighted that for the amendment 
to Recommendation (3) it was vital to continue to provide the community facilities at the 
current golf club. Regarding the bat bridge [Recommendation 2], Members would be 
guided by the scientific evidence provided accepting what was best practice and the 
need to have a bridge that accorded with best practice and guidance.  
  
 

Page 17



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

388 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 
          Those speaking against Recommendation (1) held great concern over the word 
conditional, hoping that a further amendment could be made later to remove this.  
  
          A recorded vote had been requested for each of the amendments.   
  
          Those voting for the amendment to Recommendation (1) were Councillors 
Batley, Bennett, Bicknell, Blanchard-Cooper, Brooks, Buckland, Chace, Mrs Cooper, 
Cooper, Coster, Dixon, Edwards, Mrs English, Goodheart, Gunner, Haywood, Hughes, 
Jones, Kelly, Lury, McAuliffe, Needs, Northeast, Oliver-Redgate, Oppler, Roberts, 
Smith, Stainton, Thurston, Tilbrook, Wallsgrove, Walsh, Worne and Yeates (34). Those 
voting against were Councillors Bower, Chapman, Dendle, Elkins (4).  Councillors 
Daniells, English, Pendleton, Rhodes and Staniforth abstained from voting (5).  
  
          The amendment to Recommendation (1) was therefore declared as CARRIED. 
  
          Those voting for the amendment to Recommendation (2) were Councillors 
Batley, Bennett, Bicknell, Blanchard-Cooper, Bower, Brooks, Buckland, Chace, 
Chapman, Mrs Cooper, Coster, Dixon, Edwards, Mrs English, Goodheart, Haywood, 
Jones, Lury, McAuliffe, Needs, Oliver-Redgate, Oppler, Pendleton, Smith, Stainton, 
Thurston, Tilbrook, Wallsgrove, Walsh, Worne and Yeates (31).  Those voting against 
were Councillors Daniells and Dendle (2). Councillors Cooper, Elkins, English, Gunner, 
Hughes, Kelly, Northeast, Rhodes, Roberts, and Staniforth abstained from voting (10).  
  
          The amendment to Recommendation (2) was therefore declared as CARRIED. 
  
          Those voting for the amendment to Recommendation (3) were Councillors 
Batley, Bennett, Blanchard-Cooper, Brooks, Buckland, Coster, Dixon, Haywood, 
Hughes, Jones, Lury, McAuliffe, Needs, Oppler, Smith, Stainton, Thurston, Tilbrook, 
Wallsgrove, Walsh, Worne and Yeates (22).  Those voting against were Councillors 
Bicknell, Chace, Chapman, Mrs Cooper, Cooper, Daniells, Dendle, Edwards, Elkins, 
Mrs English, English, Goodheart, Gunner, Kelly, Northeast, Oliver-Redgate, Roberts 
and Staniforth (18).  Councillors Bower, Pendleton and Rhodes abstained from voting 
(3). 
  
          The amendment to Recommendation (3) was therefore declared as CARRIED. 
  
 
 
 

Page 18



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

389 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

          Those voting for the amendment to Recommendation (4) were Councillors 
Batley, Bennett, Blanchard-Cooper, Brooks, Buckland, Chace, Coster, Dixon, Haywood, 
Hughes, Jones, Lury, McAuliffe, Needs, Oppler, Roberts, Smith, Stainton, Thurston, 
Tilbrook, Wallsgrove, Walsh, Worne and Yeates (24). Those voting against were 
Councillors Bicknell, Bower, Chapman, Mrs Cooper, Cooper, Daniells, Dendle, Elkins, 
Mrs English, English, Goodheart, Kelly, Oliver-Redgate, Pendleton and Staniforth (15). 
Councillors Edwards, Gunner, Northeast and Rhodes abstained from voting (4). 
  
          The amendment to Recommendation (4) was therefore declared as CARRIED. 
  
          The Chair then returned to the substantive recommendations and invited debate. 
  
          Councillor Pendleton confirmed that she wished to make amendments to 
Recommendations (1) and (6) which she formally proposed.  
  
          The amendments proposed are set out below – with additions shown using bold 
any deletions shown using strikethrough: 
   

1.    The Council’s supports for the grey route but calls for is conditional on 
satisfactory mitigation to reduce rat running. The Council does not 
have confidence that the rat-running issue has been satisfactorily 
resolved. The Council asks National Highways to review the veracity 
of existing traffic models in light of traffic survey data commissioned by 
Walberton Parish Council and National Highways’ own data that 
highlight the disparities between models and real-time data.  Solutions 
that avoid adverse traffic impacts for the entirety of Walberton and 
adjacent villages including currently un-modelled link roads around 
Fontwell, Barnham and Eastergate should be presented; 

  
2.  The Council supports the provision of a bat bridge design which is 

supported by scientific evidence and Natural England Green Bridge 
Guidance and is likely to achieve positive conservation outcomes for 
those species known to be present.  National Highways are requested 
to provide design updates that conform to these criteria at Tye Lane; 

  
3.  The Council views the exercise value of a round of golf as an important 

part of its health and wellbeing package for the district and would like 
to see golf (option 1 or option 2) retained at this location (not par 3 
pitch and putt which had minimal exercise value) along with the 
important community facilities provided by the existing golf course that 
serve the wider population in addition to golf club members. 

  

Page 19



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

390 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 

4.  National Highways are requested to amend designs in order to avoid 
foreseeable congestion on the northbound A284 and to include 
measures that avoid southbound delays at the proposed 
Causeway/A27 junction. It is also requested that plans for compulsory 
purchase of land to facilitate the new design, but expected to 
adversely affect local business interests, be reviewed; 

   
5.  For the avoidance of doubt the Council supports the offline solution to 

bridging the proposed road at Yapton Lane; 
  

6.  The Council’s support for the grey route calls for is conditional on the 
inclusion of a junction with Ford Road and the new A27. That we draw 
the attention of National Highways to the potential to reduce rat 
running by taking forward the Ford Road A27 junction as previously 
proposed. 

  
          Councillor Gunner seconded these amendments. 
  
          The Chair then invited debate on these amendments to the substantive 
recommendations as amended.  Those speaking against confirmed that they could not 
agree to the removal of the word conditional.   
  

Before moving further forward with the meeting, the Chair, in line with the 
Constitution at Part 5 (Rules of Procedure (Meetings), Section 1 – Council Procedure 
Rule 11.1, confirmed that the Committee would need to adjourn at 9.00 pm unless a 
vote was undertaken to extend the length of the meeting by a further 30 minutes. The 
Chair then proposed to extend the meeting by this time to 9.30 pm, if needed, to ensure 
that all business on the agenda would be concluded.  This was seconded by Councillor 
Cooper and on being put to the vote this was unanimously agreed.   
  
          Continuing with the debate, concerns were again raised that this opportunity for 
the bypass could be jeopardised by leaving demands and words such as conditional 
within the recommendations.  Members were advised to leave such detail to the 
independent inspector who would look at the development proposals. What was 
needed now was a clear indication from the Council that it wished to move forward with 
the scheme.   
  
          On putting the amendments to Recommendations (1) and (6) to the vote, these 
were declared as CARRIED.    
  
 
 

Page 20



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

391 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

          The Chair then returned to the substantive recommendations as amended.   
  
          Councillor Walsh proposed a Motion without Notice which was “That the question 
be now put”.  This was not seconded but agreed by Councillors present. 
  
          The voting on the substantive recommendations was then undertaken. 
  
          The Council 
  
                     RESOLVED 
  

The following responses to the supplementary consultation and matters of 
clarification: 
  
1.   The Council supports the grey route but calls for satisfactory mitigation 

to reduce rat running. The Council does not have confidence that the 
rat-running issue has been satisfactorily resolved. The Council asks 
National Highways to review the veracity of existing traffic models in 
light of traffic survey data commissioned by Walberton Parish Council 
and National Highways’ own data that highlight the disparities between 
models and real-time data.  Solutions that avoid adverse traffic impacts 
for the entirety of Walberton and adjacent villages including currently 
un-modelled link roads around Fontwell, Barnham and Eastergate 
should be presented;   
  

2.  The Council supports the provision of a bat bridge design which is 
supported by scientific evidence and Natural England Green Bridge 
Guidance and is likely to achieve positive conservation outcomes for 
those species known to be present.  National Highways are requested 
to provide design updates that conform to these criteria at Tye Lane; 

  
3.  The Council views the exercise value of a round of golf as an important 

part of its health and wellbeing package for the district and would like 
to see golf (option 1 or option 2) retained at this location (not par 3 
pitch and putt which had minimal exercise value) along with the 
important community facilities provided by the existing golf course that 
serve the wider population in addition to golf club members; 

  
  

4.  National Highways are requested to amend designs in order to avoid 
foreseeable congestion on the northbound A284 and to include 
measures that avoid southbound delays at the proposed 
Causeway/A27 junction. It is also requested that plans for compulsory 

Page 21



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

392 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 

purchase of land to facilitate the new design, but expected to 
adversely affect local business interests, be reviewed; 

  
5.  For the avoidance of doubt the Council supports the offline solution to 

bridging the proposed road at Yapton Lane; 
  
  

6.  The Council calls for the inclusion of a junction with Ford Road and the 
new A27. That we draw the attention of National Highways to the 
potential to reduce rat running by taking forward the Ford Road A27 
junction as previously proposed. 

  
(A request was made by Councillor Jones that his vote against the substantive 
recommendations be recorded within these minutes). 
  
(During the course of the debate on this item, Councillor Elkins declared a Personal 
Interest as a Member of West Sussex County Council). 
  
580. STANDARDS COMMITTEE - 15 DECEMBER 2022  
 
          The Chair of the Standards Committee, Councillor English, presented the 
recommendations from the meeting of the Standards Committee held on 15 December 
2022. 
  
          Councillor English alerted Councillors to the fact that there were two separate 
sets of recommendations for them to consider at Minute 544 [Monitoring Officer 
Protocol] and Minute 545 [Review of Operation and Efficacy of the Protocol for Member 
and Officer Relations] which he proposed to take together.  Councillor English then 
proposed both sets of recommendations which were then seconded by Councillor Kelly. 
  
          The Council 
  
                     RESOLVED 
  

That the Monitoring Officer Protocol be included within Part 8 of the 
Constitution. 
  
 
 
 

Page 22



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

393 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

 
The Council 
  
          RESOLVED 
  
          That the revised version of the Protocol for Member and Officer Relations 

be adopted. 
  
581. PLANNING COMMITTEE - 11 JANUARY 2023  
 
          The Chair of the Planning Committee, Councillor Chaman presented 
recommendations from the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 11 January 
2023. 
  
          The Minutes from the meeting of the Planning Committee had been circulated 
separately to the agenda forming the supplement pack that had been circulated to all 
Councillors on 17 January 2023 and upload to the Full Council web page that day. 
  
          Councillor Chapman alerted Members to a recommendation at Minute 563 [HMO 
Article Direction Report] which he formally proposed.  The recommendation was then 
seconded by Councillor Edwards. 
  
          The Council 
  
                     RESOLVED 
  

That Article 4 Directions (under Article 4 (10 Schedule 3 (1) of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015) for the three Wards of Marine, Hotham and Rover, to come into 
effect on 19 January 2023. 

  
582. MOTIONS  
 
          The Chair confirmed that no motions had been received  for this meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

394 
 
Full Council - 18.01.23 
 
 
583. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS  
 

The Chair referred Councillors to the Questions from Members that had been 
submitted in line with Council Procedure Rule 14.3 and the schedule of questions that 
had been circulated to the meeting. This confirmed that ten questions had been 
received.   
  
          The questions submitted had all been from Councillor Dixon as set out below. 
However, in view of the need to conclude the meeting before the 9.30 pm cut off, 
Councillor Dixon confirmed that he would be happy to receive written responses to his 
questions. 
  

The Chair confirmed that the schedule of questions would therefore be updated 
to include the responses provided and would be uploaded to the Council’s web page 
within ten working days of the meeting, in line with the Council’s Constitution.  
  

Ten questions had been submitted as bullet pointed below: 
   

(1)  To the Chair of the Policy & Finance Committee, Cllr Gunner Re: the last 
meeting of the Policy & Finance Committee held on 13 December and the 
Residents’ Satisfaction Survey results which were discussed 

(2)  To the Chair of the Policy & Finance Committee, Cllr Gunner regarding the 
Alexandra Theatre, Bognor Regis 

(3)  To the Chair of the Policy & Finance Committee, Cllr Gunner Re: The 
Alexandra Theatre, Bognor Regis 

(4)  To the Chair of the Policy & Finance Committee, Cllr Gunner  Re: The 
Alexandra Theatre, Bognor Regis 

(5)  To the Chair of the Policy & Finance Committee, Cllr Gunner Re: the 
Alexandra Theatre, Bognor Regis 

(6)  To the Chair of the Policy & Finance Committee, Cllr Gunner Re: the 
relocation of the temporary ice rink 

(7)  To the Chair of the Policy & Finance Committee, Cllr Gunner Re; the 
relocation of the temporary ice rink 

(8)  To the Chair of the Policy & Finance Committee, Cllr Gunner Re: the 
relocation of the temporary ice rink 

(9)  To the Chair of the Economy Committee, Cllr Andy Cooper – Re: the London 
Road coach and lorry park and its use for the temporary ice rink 

(10)        To the Chair of the Economy Committee, Cllr Andy Cooper Re: Bognor 
Regis Town Centre footfall figures 

  
584. COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIPS  
 
          The Chair confirmed that in light of the urgent item considered earlier in the 
meeting, there were no changes to Committee Memberships to report to the meeting.  
  
 
 

Page 24



Subject to approval at the next Full Council meeting 
 

395 
 

Full Council - 18.01.23 
 

 
 

 
585. REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES  
 

The Chair confirmed that there were no changes to representation on Outside 
Bodies for the meeting to consider. 
  
586. EXEMPT BUSINESS  
 

Having been proposed by the Chair and seconded by Councillor Mrs Cooper, the 
Council 
  
            RESOLVED 
  

          That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
and accredited representatives of newspapers be excluded from the 
meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it may 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act by virtue of the paragraph specified against the 
item. 

 
587. BOGNOR REGIS BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT PROPOSAL - 

SECOND TERM [EXEMPT - PARAGRAPH 3 - THE SUPPLY OF GOODS AND 
SERVICES]  

 
 The Director of Growth presented his report explaining that it was asking the 
Council to provide authority for him to vote on behalf of the Council in the Term 2 ballot, 
as outlined in Paragraph 1 of the report.  
 
 A meeting of the Economy Committee on 22 September 2022 had considered a 
report regarding the process of the ballot but it had not explicitly addressed the issue of 
how the Council should vote.  This report provided a correction to this, and it was also 
explained that a decision was needed now as the ballot was proceeding and the date of 
its conclusion was 14 February 2023. The next meeting of Full Council was not until 1 
March 2023. 
 
 Following some debate, 
 
 The Council 
 
  RESOLVED 
 

That approval be given to provide authorisation to the Director of Growth 
to vote on behalf of the Council in the Term 2 ballot as specified in the report. 

 
 
 

(The meeting concluded at 9.19 pm) 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



 

REPORT TO: Special Council Meeting – 1 March 2023 

SUBJECT: Arun District Council Budget 2023/24 

LEAD OFFICER: Carolin Martlew, Interim Group Head of Finance and 
Section 151 Officer 

LEAD MEMBER: Councillor Shaun Gunner 

WARDS: All 

CORPORATE PRIORITY / POLICY CONTEXT / CORPORATE VISION:  

The Council’s financial planning and budget promotes all the Council’s Corporate 
Priorities. 

DIRECTORATE POLICY CONTEXT: 

The Council’s financial planning and budget has an effect on all Directorates of the 
Council. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 

The draft budgets are shown in the appendices. The financial forecast for the General 
Fund Revenue Budget predicts significant budget deficits in 2023/24 and future years.   

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
1.1. The purpose of the report is for Council to consider and approve 

recommendations on the overall budget to be set, level of Council Tax for the 
District, Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget and rent levels for 2023/24 
 

1.2. In addition, Council must consider the overall capital programme and approve 
recommendations on the overall capital programme (HRA and General Fund) to 
be set for 2023/24. 

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Council: 
  

(a) Notes that the Interim Group Head of Finance, in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council has approved a tax base of 64,159 for 2023/2024; 
 

(b) Notes the submission of the Council’s NNDR1 return (the estimate of the 
Council’s Business Rate income for 2023/24) to the Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC). 

 
(c) That the General Fund Budget as set out in Appendix 1 is approved; 

 
(d) Arun’s Band D Council Tax for 2023/24 is set at £202.34, an increase of 

2.99% over 2022/23; 
 
 Page 27

Agenda Item 8



(e) Arun’s Council Tax Requirement for 2023/24, based on a Band D Council 
tax of £202.34, is set at £12.982m, plus parish precepts as demanded, to be 
transferred to the General Fund in accordance with statutory requirements; 
 

(f) The Council’s General Fund Balance minimum balance continues to be set 
at £5m; 
 

(g) The HRA budget as set out in Appendix 2 is approved; 
 

(h) HRA rents be increased by 7% in accordance with the provisions of the rent 
standard; 
 

(i) HRA garage rents bee increased by 7% to give an average rent of £14.50 
per week (excluding VAT) and heating and water/sewerage charges be 
increased on a scheme by scheme basis, with the aim of balancing costs 
with income; 
 

(j) The HRA Balance to remain below the minimum level of £2m for the period 
2023/24 to 2026/27 to enable the realisation of savings in Repairs and 
Supervision & Management expenditure to deliver a sustainable HRA; and 

 
(k) The capital programme as set out appendix C is approved. 

 
2.2. Resolve that for 2023/24 any expenses incurred by the Authority in performing 

in part of its area a function performed elsewhere in its area by a Parish/Town 
Council or the Chairman of a Parish Meeting shall not be treated as special 
expenses for the purposes of Section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992. 

 
3. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
3.1. The report considers the recommendations made by Policy and Finance 

Committee on 9 February 2023 in respect of the Council’s Budget for 2023/24. 
 

3.2. The associated statutory resolutions will be circulated just before the meeting, 
following receipt of the West Sussex County Council and Sussex Police and 
Crime Commissioner precepts. 

 
3.3. There are additional requirements associated with the approval of the Council’s 

tax base and NNDR1 for 2023/24 and special expenses. 
 

3.4. Members are also individually reminded that Section 106 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 applies to this meeting. Members who are two 
months or more in arrears with their Council Tax must declare this to the meeting 
and must not vote on budget recommendations, as to do otherwise can be a 
criminal offence. 
 

4. DETAIL 
 
4.1. Arun District Council’s Budget for 2023/24 was considered by Policy and 

Finance Committee on 9 February 2023. 
 

Page 28



4.2. Members have already received a copy of the Budget but for ease of reference 
the key summary tables (General Fund, Housing Revenue Account and Capital 
Programme) are attached as Appendices 1, 2 and 3 respectively. 
 

4.3. The required statutory resolutions (Appendix 4) will be circulated before the 
Special Council meeting, following receipt of the West Sussex County Council 
precept.  
 

4.4. The estimates as presented in this Budget are sufficiently robust and that the 
reserve balances proposed for 2023/24 are adequate. However, there is 
significant risk in the medium-term for the General Fund when the Council’s 
Funding Resilience reserve is anticipated to be if work on the transformation 
programme does not result in a more balanced budget. 

 
4.5. In addition the HRA Business Plan and future years Budgets will need to be 

closely monitored to ensure revenue savings are delivered and the capital 
programme remains affordable to allow the recovery of balances and deliver a 
sustainable budget. 

 
5. CONSULTATION 
 
5.1. Consultation is being undertaking with representatives of non-domestic 

ratepayers on the Council’s proposals for expenditure for the 2023/24 financial 
year in accordance with Section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  
 

5.2. Individual committees have been consulted on their individual budgets as part 
of the budget process. 
 

6. OPTIONS / ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 

6.1. Not applicable. 
 

7. COMMENTS BY THE INTERIM GROUP HEAD OF FINANCE/SECTION 151 
OFFICER 

 
7.1. Capital spending is susceptible to overrun, delay and increased costs. It is 

important that close monitoring of both revenue budgets, and the capital 
programme is in place. 
 

7.2. The General Fund Revenue budget was rebased following a ZBB exercise.  It is 
prudent to review this for the budget 2024/25 process to ensure that the 
assumptions made are still valid in light of the transformation programme that 
the Council will need to embark on to ensure that future budgets are balanced 
without excessive use of reserves as highlighted in the Medium Term Financial 
Plan considered at Full Council on 18 January 2023. 
 

7.3. The HRA budget reflects the assumptions in the latest draft HRA Business Plan.    
It is recommended that the HRA Business plan is reviewed mid 2023/24 to 
ensure that these assumptions continue to be valid.  

 
 
 
 Page 29



8. RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 
 

8.1. The risks listed in the Financial Prospects Report 2022/23 to 2026/27 remain 
relevant. Members may wish to review these alongside this report. 
 

8.2. The main risk in preparing the detailed budgets is that the Council sets an illegal 
budget (expenditure is greater than income). This is avoided through the 
planned use of reserves, however, the risk of reserves being run down to support 
the General Fund Budget remains if work on the transformation programme 
does not result in a more balanced budget. 

 
8.3. An inaccurate or illegal budget would cause reputational damage to the Council. 

This is a risk and the controls and processes in place will avoid this. 
 

9. COMMENTS OF THE GROUP HEAD OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE & 
MONITORING OFFICER 

 
9.1. The Council must set its budget in accordance with the provisions of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992 and approval of a balanced budget each year is 
a statutory responsibility. Sections 25 to 29 of the Local Government Act 2003 
impose duties on the Council in relation to how it sets and monitors its budget. 
These provisions require the Council to make prudent allowance for the risk and 
uncertainties in its budget and to regularly monitor its finances during the year. 
The legislation leaves discretion to the Council about the allowances to be made 
and action to be taken. 
 

9.2. Section 30(6) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 provides that the 
Council must set its budget before 11 March in the financial year preceding the 
one in respect of which the budget is set. 

 
9.3. The provisions of section 25 of Local Government Act 2003 require that, when 

the Council is making the calculation of its budget requirement, it must have 
regard to the report of the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) as to the 
robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations and the 
adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. 

 
9.4. Consultation must take place in accordance with the Council’s duties under 

section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. It must be borne in mind 
that this is consultation on the budget proposals, not on the decision to take 
whatever decision is implied by the adoption of that budget. Consultation has 
taken placed as set out in section 5 of this report, including with Group Heads 
and Directors in conjunction with the Finance team. 

 
9.5. When considering options, Members must bear in mind their fiduciary duty to 

the council taxpayers of the District. Members must have adequate evidence on 
which to base their decisions on the level of quality at which services should be 
provided. 

 
9.6. Where a service is provided pursuant to a statutory duty, it would not be lawful 

to fail to discharge it properly or abandon it, and where there is discretion as to 
how it is to be discharged, that discretion should be exercised reasonably. 

 

Page 30



9.7. The report sets out the relevant considerations for Members to consider during 
their deliberations and Members are reminded of the need to ignore irrelevant 
considerations. Members have a duty to seek to ensure that the Council acts 
lawfully. Members must not come to a decision which no reasonable authority 
could come to; balancing the nature, quality and level of services which they 
consider should be provided, against the costs of providing such services. 

 
9.8. There is a particular requirement to take into consideration the Council’s 

fiduciary duty and the public sector equality duty in coming to its decision. 
 

9.9. The public sector equality duty is that a public authority must, in the exercise of 
its functions, have due regard to the need to: (1) eliminate discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under 
the Equality Act 2010; (2) advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
(3) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
9.10. Any decision made in the exercise of any function is potentially open to 

challenge if the duty has been disregarded. 
 

9.11. Members are also individually reminded that Section 106 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 applies to this meeting. Members who are two 
months or more in arrears with their Council Tax must declare this to the meeting 
and must not vote on budget recommendations, as to do otherwise can be a 
criminal offence. 
 

10. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT  
 
10.1. There are no direct implications. 
 
11. HEALTH & SAFETY IMPACT 
 
11.1. There are no direct implications. 
   
12. PROPERTY & ESTATES IMPACT 

 
12.1. There are no direct implications. 
 
13. EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) / SOCIAL VALUE 
 
13.1. There are no direct implications.   
 
14. CLIMATE CHANGE & ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT/SOCIAL VALUE 
 
14.1. There are no direct implications. 
   
15. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT  

 
15.1. There are no direct implications. 
 
 
 Page 31



16. HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACT  
 
16.1. There are no direct implications. 
 
17. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION / DATA PROTECTION CONSIDERATIONS  
 
17.1. There are no direct implications. 

 
  
 
CONTACT OFFICER:   
Name: Carolin Martlew 
Job Title: Interim Group Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer 
Contact Number: 01903 737568 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
2022/23 Budget Report to Full Council 23 February 2022; 
Financial Prospects 2022/23 to 2026/27 – Finance and Policy Committee 13 
December 2022; 
Budget Consultation Report – Corporate Support Committee 15 September 2022; 
Statement of Accounts 2021/22. 
Committee Revenue and Capital Budgets 2023/24 Report to Policy and Finance 
Committee 9 February 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1

 

General Fund Revenue Budget Summary 
 

Actual  Budget Budget 
2021-22 Description 2022-23 2023-24 

£'000  £'000 £'000 
 

Cost of Service 
  

1,866 Policy and Finance Committee 2,136 2,103 

6,854 Corporate Support Committee 6,592 7,678 

1,450 Economy Committee 2,713 2,449 

8,386 Environment Committee 8,257 10,660 

23 Planning Policy Committee 945 906 

4,453 Housing and Wellbeing Committee 3,311 5,987 

0 Vacancy Management (500) (500) 

(1,710) Recharges to Housing Revenue Account (1,545) (1,526) 

21,322 Total Cost of Service: 21,909 27,757 
 

Corporate Cost 
  

4,877 Parish Precepts 5,024 5,301 

256 Other precepts and levies 247 249 

(442) Interest & investment income (413) (1,825) 

(727) Contingencies / miscellaneous 0 510 

426 Contribution to/(from) earmarked reserves (1,928) x (4,996) 

1,059 Capital expenditure financed from revenue 52 0 

1,098 Pension deficit contributions 982 1,323 

6,547 Total Corporate Cost: 3,964 562 

27,869 Total Net Budget Requirement 25,874 28,318 

 Financed By   

(5,963) Retained Business Rates (6,176) xx (7,626) 

(1,040) New Homes Bonus (1,292) (616) 

(4,201) Other non ringfenced grants (1,140) (1,825) 

(11,836) Council Tax Income - Arun Excluding Parishes (12,380) (12,982) 

(5,036) Council Tax Income - Town & Parish Councils (5,024) (5,301) 

207 Collection Fund deficit/(surplus) 138 32 

(27,869) Total External Finance: (25,874) (28,318) 

(0) Transfer (to) / from General Fund Reserve (0) 0 
 

x Excluding £3.742m S31 Grant received in 2022/23 
xx Including £3.742m S31 Grant received in 2022/23 

Page 33



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 34



Appendix 3 
 

Actual 
2021/22 

£’000 

Description Original 
Budget 
2022/23 

£’000 

Updated 
Budget 
2022/23 

£’000 

Budget 
2023/24 

£’000 

Budget 
2024/25 

£’000 

Budget 
2025/26 

£’000 

Budget 
2026/27 

£’000 

GENERAL FUND 
Environment 

1,413 Disabled Facilities Grants 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400 
23 Parks Chipper - - - - - 26 

- Keystone Centre - 250 - - - - 
34 Sunken Gardens - 466 - - - - 

1,311 Place St Maur - 465 - - - - 
162 Play Areas 225 462 255 65 100 100 

- Bersted Brooks Country Pk 320 320 - - - - 
2,943 Total Environment 1,945 3,363 1,655 1,465 1,500 1,526 

        
Economy 

1,310 Littlehampton Public Realm - 3,302 - - - - 
921 Asset Management 807 3,285 539 453 1,110 320 

2,231 Total Economy 807 6,587 539 453 1,110 320 
        

Policy & Finance 
- Levelling Up Fund - L’ton Sea Front - 7,234 - - - - 
- Levelling Up Fund - Alexandra Theatre - 12,190 - - - - 
- Alexandra Theatre - Council Cont. - - 3,750 - - - 
- Total Policy & Finance - 19,424 3,750 - - - 
        

Corporate Support 
75 Arun Improvement Programme - - - - - - 

356 ICT 200 548 - 50 - 355 
33 E5 Upgrade - - - - - - 

464 Total Corporate Support 200 548 - 50 - 355 
        

Housing & Wellbeing 
25 Littlehampton Wave - - - - - - 

- Arun Leisure Centre wet change 987 987 - - - - 
25 Total Leisure 987 987 - - - - 

        
5,663 TOTAL GENERAL FUND 3,939 30,909 5,944 1,918 2,610 2,201 

        
HOUSING 
Housing & Wellbeing 

262 CX Implementation 285 466 467 53 - - 
262 Total Housing IT 285 466 467 53 - - 

        
4,328 Stock Development 100 10,845 - - - - 

105 Reroofing Programme 950 950 250 500 500 500 
21 Roofline 150 150 100 150 150 150 
49 Lift Replacement Programme 50 50 75 75 75 75 

130 Kitchen & Bathroom Replacement 
Programme 

950 950 200 500 500 500 

210 Kitchen & Bathroom Replacement 
Programme Voids 

250 250 125 125 125 125 

241 Commercial Boiler Room 
Improvements 

100 100 150 150 150 150 

242 Domestic Heating Programme 651 651 651 651 651 651 
 Stores 30 30 250 100 100 0 

516 Fire Compliance - - - - - - 
30 Structural 140 140 120 120 120 120 

1,060 Windows & Doors 1,575 1,575 520 20 20 20 Page 35



18 Rewiring 70 70 140 173 162 135 
380 Aids & Adaptations 450 450 350 350 350 350 

7,330 Total Housing Stock Dev & 
Improvements 

5,466 16,211 2,931 2,914 2,903 2,776 

        
- Decarbonisation - - 3,000 - - - 
- Total Decarbonisation - - 3,000 - - - 
        

- Sheltered Accommodation 2,600 - 2,600 2,000 1,400 - 
- Total Sheltered Accommodation 2,600 - 2,600 2,000 1,400 - 
        

7,592 TOTAL HOUSING 8,351 16,677 8,998 4,967 4,303 2,776 
        

13,255 TOTAL PROGRAMME 12,290 47,585 14,941 6,935 6,913 4,977 
        

FINANCED BY: 
        

3,174 Capital Grants 1,400 24,184 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400 
1.396 Capital Receipts 1,500 1,500 1,285 285 285 285 
2,381 Charge to General Fund (RCCO) 52 3,752 - - - - 
2,467 Major Repairs Reserve 5,336 5,336 2,931 2,914 2,903 2,776 

653 Charge to the HRA 515 - - - - - 
3,184 Prudential Borrowing 3,487 12,813 9,325 2,336 2,325 516 

13,255 TOTAL FINANCING 12,290 47,585 14,941 6,935 6,913 4,977 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 36



 
 

Appendix 4 
ARUN DISTRICT COUNCIL 1 MARCH 2023 

 
STATUTORY RESOLUTIONS 

 
 The Council is recommended to resolve as follows: 
 
1. It is noted that the Interim Group Head of Finance, in consultation with the Leader of the Council 

has approved for 2023/24 a Council Tax Base  
 
 (a) for the whole Council as 64,159 (Item T in the formula in Section 31B of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992, as amended) (the “Act”); and 
 
 (b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish/Town precept relates as in the 

attached Table 1 
 
2. The Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 2023/24 (excluding Parish/Town 

precepts) is calculated as £12,981,932. 
 
3. The following amounts are calculated for the financial year 2023/24 in accordance with Sections 

31 to 36 of the Act : 
 
 (a) £53,306,948 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items 

set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into account all precepts issued to it by 
Parish/Town Councils 

 
  (b) £35,024,490 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items 

set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act 
 
 (c) £18,282,458 being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds the aggregate 

at 3(b) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act, as its 
Council Tax requirement (including Parish/Town precepts) for the year. (Item R in the 
formula in Section 31B of the Act). 

   
 (d) £284.96 being the amount at 3(c) above (Item R) divided by the amount at 1(a) above (Item 

T), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B  of the Act, as the basic amount 
of its Council Tax for the year (including Parish/Town precepts). 

 
 (e) £5,300,526 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish/Town precepts) referred 

to in Section 34(1) of the Act (as per the attached Table 2). 
 
 (f) £202.34 being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 3(e) 

above by the amount at 1(a) above (Item T), calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in 
those parts of its area to which no Parish/Town precept relates. 

 
 (g) In parts of the Council’s Area shown in Table 3, being the amounts given by adding to the 

amount at 3(f) above the amounts of the special items relating to dwellings in those parts of 
the Council’s area mentioned above divided in each case by the amount at 1(b) above, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic amount 
of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more 
special items relate. 

 
 (h) In parts of the Council’s Area shown in Table 4(i), being the amounts given by multiplying 

the amounts at 3(f) and 3(g) above by the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 
5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band, divided by the 
number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be 
taken into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different 
valuation bands.  

 Page 37



 
 
4. To note that for 2023/24 West Sussex County Council and the Sussex Police & Crime 

Commissioner have issued precepts to the Council in accordance with Section 40 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 for each category of dwellings in the Council’s area as indicated in 
the table 4(ii). 

 
5. That the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 

1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the attached Table 4(iii) as the amounts of 
Council Tax for 2023/24 for each part of its area and for each of the categories of dwellings. (Table 
5 shows the “Headline” Band D Council Tax for 2023/24). 

 
6. That the Council has determined that its relevant basic amount of Council Tax for 2023/24 is not 

excessive in accordance with the principles approved under section 52ZC of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. As the billing authority, the Council has not been notified by any major 
precepting authority that its relevant basic amount of Council Tax for 2023/24 is excessive and 
therefore is not required to hold a referendum in accordance with section 52ZK of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
 
Tax base 2023/24 

 
Precepts 2023/24 

 
Total charge Band D  
excl. WSCC and PCC 

(Parish + ADC) 

  
 

  
 

  
 

£ 
 

  
 

£ 
Aldingbourne 

 
1,866 

 
Aldingbourne 

 
151,778 

 
Aldingbourne 

 
283.68 

Aldwick 
 

5,354 
 

Aldwick 
 

95,000 
 

Aldwick 
 

220.08 
Angmering 

 
3,806 

 
Angmering 

 
410,570 

 
Angmering 

 
310.21 

Arundel 
 

1,654 
 

Arundel 
 

187,828 
 

Arundel 
 

315.90 
Barnham and 
Eastergate 

 
2,333 

 
Barnham and 
Eastergate 

 
171,429 

 
Barnham and 
Eastergate 

 
275.82 

Bersted 
 

3,554 
 

Bersted 
 

143,324 
 

Bersted 
 

242.67 
Bognor Regis 

 
7,428 

 
Bognor Regis 

 
1,009,819 

 
Bognor Regis 

 
338.29 

Burpham 
 

133 
 

Burpham 
 

2,800 
 

Burpham 
 

223.39 
Clapham 

 
141 

 
Clapham 

 
14,061 

 
Clapham 

 
302.06 

Climping 
 

440 
 

Climping 
 

16,760 
 

Climping 
 

240.43 
East Preston 

 
2,827 

 
East Preston 

 
279,262 

 
East Preston 

 
301.12 

Felpham 
 

4,975 
 

Felpham 
 

109,435 
 

Felpham 
 

224.34 
Ferring 

 
2,427 

 
Ferring 

 
93,184 

 
Ferring 

 
240.73 

Findon 
 

984 
 

Findon 
 

56,000 
 

Findon 
 

259.25 
Ford 

 
462 

 
Ford 

 
17,860 

 
Ford 

 
241.00 

Kingston 
 

446 
 

Kingston 
 

9,090 
 

Kingston 
 

222.72 
Littlehampton 

 
10,323 

 
Littlehampton 

 
1,446,520 

 
Littlehampton 

 
342.47 

Lyminster 
 

182 
 

Lyminster 
 

9,500 
 

Lyminster 
 

254.54 
Middleton 

 
2,347 

 
Middleton 

 
53,000 

 
Middleton 

 
224.92 

Pagham 
 

2,601 
 

Pagham 
 

78,473 
 

Pagham 
 

232.51 
Patching 

 
123 

 
Patching 

 
4,000 

 
Patching 

 
234.86 

Rustington 
 

6,117 
 

Rustington 
 

759,000 
 

Rustington 
 

326.42 
Slindon 

 
287 

 
Slindon 

 
23,258 

 
Slindon 

 
283.38 

Walberton 
 

1,202 
 

Walberton 
 

72,525 
 

Walberton 
 

262.68 
Yapton 

 
1,817 

 
Yapton 

 
56,050 

 
Yapton 

 
249.70 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
    64,159 

 
Total   5,300,526 

 
      

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 
 

 
Table 4 (i) to 4(iii)         

VALUATION BANDS 
 

  A      B      C      D      E      F      G      H      
i.  AMOUNTS OF TAX FOR ARUN DISTRICT COUNCIL INCLUDING TOWN/PARISH PRECEPTS WHERE 
APPLICABLE 
  £      £      £      £      £      £      £      £      
Aldingbourne 189.12  220.64  252.16      283.68  346.72  409.76  472.80  567.36  
Aldwick 146.72  171.17  195.63      220.08  268.99  317.89  366.80  440.16  
Angmering 206.81  241.27  275.74      310.21  379.15  448.08  517.02  620.42  
Arundel 210.60  245.70  280.80      315.90  386.10  456.30  526.50  631.80  
Barnham and Eastergate 183.88  214.53  245.17      275.82  337.11  398.41  459.70  551.64  
Bersted 161.78  188.74  215.71      242.67  296.60  350.52  404.45  485.34  
Bognor Regis 225.53  263.11  300.70      338.29  413.47  488.64  563.82  676.58  
Burpham 148.93  173.75  198.57      223.39  273.03  322.67  372.32  446.78  
Clapham 201.37  234.94  268.50      302.06  369.18  436.31  503.43  604.12  
Climping 160.29  187.00  213.72      240.43  293.86  347.29  400.72  480.86  
East Preston 200.75  234.20  267.66      301.12  368.04  434.95  501.87  602.24  
Felpham 149.56  174.49  199.41      224.34  274.19  324.05  373.90  448.68  
Ferring 160.49  187.23  213.98      240.73  294.23  347.72  401.22  481.46  
Findon 172.83  201.64  230.44      259.25  316.86  374.47  432.08  518.50  
Ford 160.67  187.44  214.22      241.00  294.56  348.11  401.67  482.00  
Houghton 134.89  157.38  179.86      202.34  247.30  292.27  337.23  404.68  
Kingston 148.48  173.23  197.97      222.72  272.21  321.71  371.20  445.44  
Littlehampton 228.31  266.37  304.42      342.47  418.57  494.68  570.78  684.94  
Lyminster 169.69  197.98  226.26      254.54  311.10  367.67  424.23  509.08  
Madehurst 134.89  157.38  179.86      202.34  247.30  292.27  337.23  404.68  
Middleton 149.95  174.94  199.93      224.92  274.90  324.88  374.87  449.84  
Pagham 155.01  180.84  206.68      232.51  284.18  335.85  387.52  465.02  
Patching 156.57  182.67  208.76      234.86  287.05  339.24  391.43  469.72  
Poling 134.89  157.38  179.86      202.34  247.30  292.27  337.23  404.68  
Rustington 217.61  253.88  290.15      326.42  398.96  471.50  544.03  652.84  
Slindon 188.92  220.41  251.89      283.38  346.35  409.33  472.30  566.76  
South Stoke 134.89  157.38  179.86      202.34  247.30  292.27  337.23  404.68  
Walberton 175.12  204.31  233.49      262.68  321.05  379.43  437.80  525.36  
Warningcamp 134.89  157.38  179.86      202.34  247.30  292.27  337.23  404.68  
Yapton 166.47  194.21  221.96  249.70  305.19  360.68  416.17  499.40  
                  

         
ii.  AMOUNTS OF TAX FOR WEST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL AND SUSSEX POLICE AND CRIME 
COMMISSIONER 
  £      £      £      £      £      £      £      £      

West Sussex County 
Council precept 

1,088.94 1,270.43 1,451.92 1,633.41 1,996.39 2,359.37 2,722.35 3,266.82 

          

Sussex Police & Crime 
Commissioner precept 

159.94 186.60 213.25 239.91 293.22 346.54 399.85 479.82 

                  

 
 
 
 
 
 Page 39



 
 

iii.  TOTAL AMOUNTS OF COUNCIL TAX FOR 2023/24 
  A      B      C      D      E      F      G      H      
  £      £      £      £      £      £      £      £      
Aldingbourne 1,438.00  1,677.67  1,917.33   2,157.00  2,636.33  3,115.67  3,595.00  4,314.00  
Aldwick 1,395.60  1,628.20  1,860.80   2,093.40  2,558.60  3,023.80  3,489.00  4,186.80  
Angmering 1,455.69  1,698.30  1,940.91   2,183.53  2,668.76  3,153.99  3,639.22  4,367.06  
Arundel 1,459.48  1,702.73  1,945.97   2,189.22  2,675.71  3,162.21  3,648.70  4,378.44  
Barnham and 
Eastergate 1,432.76  1,671.56  1,910.34   2,149.14  2,626.72  3,104.32  3,581.90  4,298.28  
Bersted 1,410.66  1,645.77  1,880.88   2,115.99  2,586.21  3,056.43  3,526.65  4,231.98  
Bognor Regis 1,474.41  1,720.14  1,965.87   2,211.61  2,703.08  3,194.55  3,686.02  4,423.22  
Burpham 1,397.81  1,630.78  1,863.74   2,096.71  2,562.64  3,028.58  3,494.52  4,193.42  
Clapham 1,450.25  1,691.97  1,933.67   2,175.38  2,658.79  3,142.22  3,625.63  4,350.76  
Climping 1,409.17  1,644.03  1,878.89   2,113.75  2,583.47  3,053.20  3,522.92  4,227.50  
East Preston 1,449.63  1,691.23  1,932.83   2,174.44  2,657.65  3,140.86  3,624.07  4,348.88  
Felpham 1,398.44  1,631.52  1,864.58   2,097.66  2,563.80  3,029.96  3,496.10  4,195.32  
Ferring 1,409.37  1,644.26  1,879.15   2,114.05  2,583.84  3,053.63  3,523.42  4,228.10  
Findon 1,421.71  1,658.67  1,895.61   2,132.57  2,606.47  3,080.38  3,554.28  4,265.14  
Ford 1,409.55  1,644.47  1,879.39   2,114.32  2,584.17  3,054.02  3,523.87  4,228.64  
Houghton 1,383.77  1,614.41  1,845.03   2,075.66  2,536.91  2,998.18  3,459.43  4,151.32  
Kingston 1,397.36  1,630.26  1,863.14   2,096.04  2,561.82  3,027.62  3,493.40  4,192.08  
Littlehampton 1,477.19  1,723.40  1,969.59   2,215.79  2,708.18  3,200.59  3,692.98  4,431.58  
Lyminster 1,418.57  1,655.01  1,891.43   2,127.86  2,600.71  3,073.58  3,546.43  4,255.72  
Madehurst 1,383.77  1,614.41  1,845.03   2,075.66  2,536.91  2,998.18  3,459.43  4,151.32  
Middleton 1,398.83  1,631.97  1,865.10   2,098.24  2,564.51  3,030.79  3,497.07  4,196.48  
Pagham 1,403.89  1,637.87  1,871.85   2,105.83  2,573.79  3,041.76  3,509.72  4,211.66  
Patching 1,405.45  1,639.70  1,873.93   2,108.18  2,576.66  3,045.15  3,513.63  4,216.36  
Poling 1,383.77  1,614.41  1,845.03   2,075.66  2,536.91  2,998.18  3,459.43  4,151.32  
Rustington 1,466.49  1,710.91  1,955.32   2,199.74  2,688.57  3,177.41  3,666.23  4,399.48  
Slindon 1,437.80  1,677.44  1,917.06   2,156.70  2,635.96  3,115.24  3,594.50  4,313.40  
South Stoke 1,383.77  1,614.41  1,845.03   2,075.66  2,536.91  2,998.18  3,459.43  4,151.32  
Walberton 1,424.00  1,661.34  1,898.66   2,136.00  2,610.66  3,085.34  3,560.00  4,272.00  
Warningcamp 1,383.77  1,614.41  1,845.03   2,075.66  2,536.91  2,998.18  3,459.43  4,151.32  
Yapton 1,415.35  1,651.24  1,887.13   2,123.02  2,594.80  3,066.59  3,538.37  4,246.04  
                  

 
 

Table 5   
    
"Headline" Band D Council Tax 2023/24   
  £ 
West Sussex County Council 1,633.41 
Sussex Police & Crime Commissioner 239.91 
Arun District Council 202.34 
Parish/Town Council average 82.62 
    
Total 2,158.28 
    
This figure represents the average Band D tax payable throughout the Arun District.   
    

 

Page 40


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	Minutes

	8 Arun District Council Budget 2023-2024

